THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

---

Appellate Case No.: 2014-000454

---

Paula Russell,

Appellant,

v.

Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., and  
American Home Assurance,

Respondents.

---

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

---

Thursday, October 23, 2014

William A. Jordan, III  
S.C. Bar #101271  
Jordan Law Center  
622 Wade Hampton Boulevard  
Greenville, S.C. 29609  
(864) 235-0147  
(864) 467-9349 (fax)  
William@williamjordan.org

Attorney for Appellant

C. Daniel Vega  
1510 Calhoun St.  
Columbia, S.C. 29201

Attorney for Appellant

**

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE COMMISSION COMMIT AN ERROR OF LAW BY REQUIRING THAT THE APPELLANT'S CHANGE OF CONDITION MUST BE ESTABLISHED BY "OBJECTIVE" EVIDENCE, WHERE NO SUCH STANDARD IS REQUIRED BY CASE LAW OR STATUTE?
- II. DID THE COMMISSION ERR BY RULING THAT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE EXISTED TO SUPPORT A DENIAL OF A CHANGE OF CONDITION, WHERE THE EVIDENCE OVERWHELMINGLY SHOWED THAT A CHANGE IN CONDITION DID OCCUR?
- III. DID THE COMMISSION ERR IN DETERMINING THE CLAIMANT'S STATEMENTS WERE "SELF-SERVING" AND "CONCLUSORY," AND THUS COULD NOT BE RELIED ON, WHERE THESE STATEMENTS WERE CONSISTENT WITH HER ENTIRE MEDICAL HISTORY AND RESPONDENTS AGREED SHE WAS A CREDIBLE WITNESS?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal in a Workers' Compensation case. The Claimant and Appellant, Paula Russell (hereinafter "Russell") was first injured in an admitted work-related accident on November 3, 2009. Russell's employer was Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. ("Employer"), and its carrier is American Home Assurance ("Carrier") (collectively, "Respondents"). A hearing was held on April 13, 2011. On June 8, 2011, the Commission ordered that Russell had reached Maximum Medical Improvement ("MMI") and was entitled to a 7% disability to the back, and she returned to work with moderate restrictions that did not prevent her from doing her management-level job.

Within a few months, Russell began to experience increased symptoms; she suffers from increased pain in her back as well as new radicular pain in her legs and buttock. On December 9, 2011, after discussing these new symptoms with her doctors, Russell filed a Form 50 alleging a change of condition. A hearing on this matter was held

on February 11, 2013. In an order dated August 5, 2013, the Single Commissioner ruled that Russell had experienced a change in condition, was entitled to ongoing causally related medical care and was also entitled to temporary total disability benefits from December 1, 2011 through the present and continuing.

This Order was appealed by the Respondents and a hearing was held on December 16, 2013. The Full Commission issued its order on January 30, 2014. The Full Commission found that no change in condition had occurred, based primarily on the lack of difference between several lower back MRIs. The first MRI was performed in 2010, prior to the resolution of her initial claim. The next two MRIs, from 2011, and 2012, were performed after she began experiencing new and more severe symptoms. In making this ruling, the Commission applied an "objective difference" standard, requiring Russell to prove, via some 'objective' measure, that a change in condition had occurred. The Commission found that the doctors' opinions that a change of condition had occurred, as well as Russell's otherwise credible testimony that her symptoms had increased, was not enough to prove a change of condition without being able to show an anatomical change via an MRI. Finally, the Commission found that Ms. Russell's statements about her increased symptoms were unreliable because they were both "conclusory" and "self-serving."

Russell served her Notice of Appeal on February 28, 2013, alleging three errors made by the Commission: (1) the use of an "objective" evidence standard to prove a change of condition is an error of law; (2) the substantial evidence of the case can lead

to no other conclusion but that a change in condition has occurred; and (3) the Commission erred in finding that the Claimant was not a credible witness.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”) provides the standard for judicial review of decisions by the Commission. *Pierre v. Seaside Farms, Inc.*, 386 S.C. 534, 540, 689 S.E.2d 615, 618 (2010); *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 133-34, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981). Under the APA, this Court can reverse or modify the decision of the Commission if the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(d), (e) (Supp. 2011); *Transp. Ins. Co. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund*, 389 S.C. 422, 427, 699 S.E.2d 687, 689-90 (2010). “This Court’s review is, therefore, limited to determining whether the Appellate Panel’s decision is unsupported by substantial evidence or controlled by an error of law.” *Mungo v. Rental Unif. Serv. Of Florence, Inc.* 383 S.C. 270, 277, 678 S.E.2d 825, 829 (2009) (citations omitted).

The Appellate Panel of the Commission is the ultimate factfinder in workers' compensation cases. *Shealy v. Aiken Cnty.*, 341 S.C. 448, 455, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000). As a general rule, this Court must affirm the findings of fact made by the Commission if they are supported by substantial evidence. *Pierre* at 540, 689 S.E.2d at 618. “Substantial evidence is that evidence which, in considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the Commission reached.” *Hill v. Eagle Motor Lines*, 373 S.C. 422, 436, 645 S.E.2d 424, 431 (2007). “The possibility of

drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent the Commission's finding from being supported by substantial evidence.” *Id.* Substantial evidence is not “a mere scintilla of evidence nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency reached or must have reached in order to justify its action.” *Lark* at 135, 276 S.E.2d at 306.

### **ARGUMENTS**

This case has a complicated history going back to 2009 and the Appeal will undoubtedly turn on a close examination of the record; therefore a lengthy recitation of the facts is necessary before delving into the legal arguments. Russell was first injured on November 3, 2009 while lifting at work. (R. p. 3). At this point, Russell had been working at Wal-Mart for 13 years, the preceding 4 as an assistant store manager. (R. p. 3). Russell started in the receiving department, ultimately working her way up to a Support Manager and then Assistant Manager. (R. pp. 185-186). Wal-Mart recognized her skills and she moved to North Carolina for two years to work at a store that was having personnel problems. (R. pp. 186-187). Eventually, she moved back to South Carolina and was promoted to a Co-Manager or Shift Manager position, essentially one level below the store manager. (R. p. 187, lines 6-14). This position placed her in charge of forecasting, supervision of employees, merchandise, and store finances; during her shifts, she was responsible for the operation of the entire store. (R. pp. 187-188).

Russell was 3 months pregnant at the time of her injury, and thus was treated very conservatively for the remainder of her pregnancy term. (R. pp. 3-4). After she

delivered her child, her treating physician, Dr. James Merritt, opined that “no surgery was required,” and he treated her with medication, exercises, and an injection. (R. p. 4). The Claimant admitted at the hearing that she still suffered from some back pain and had a 30 pound lifting restriction, but was able to perform her job within these restrictions. (R. p. 4). She hoped to return to her job and eventually become a full store manager. (R. p. 4). While she had experienced pelvic pain at some point in the past, that problem had resolved by the time of the hearing, and her primary diagnosis was a “back strain.” (R. p. 4).

There was no mention of any leg or buttock pain in this Order. (R. pp. 1-8). Commissioner Wilkerson’s two primary findings were: (1) Russell was entitled to ongoing *Dodge* medical in the form of anti-inflammatory medication; and, (2) she suffered from a 7% permanent partial disability to her back, and was thus entitled to a disability award under § 42-9-30. (R. pp. 5-6). This Order was never appealed and pursuant to § 42-17-60<sup>1</sup> became the law of the case. Again, there is no indication of any buttock or leg pain in this order, despite the fact that Commissioner Wilkerson did review the records relied upon by the Respondents to prove that Russell has had the same leg pain symptoms for some time now. Similarly, there is no indication that Russell’s pregnancy affected her treatment in any way, including whether or not she ultimately had surgery, other than initially receiving very conservative treatment until he had her child.

---

<sup>1</sup> If the parties to the dispute fail to timely appeal the final award of the full commission, then its order “is conclusive and binding as to all questions of fact.” S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-60 (2013).

In September or October of 2011, Russell began experiencing more intense back pain, as well as severe leg and buttock pain, a type of pain she had never experienced before. She reported this at her next appointment with Dr. Merritt, and he referred Russell for an MRI in October, where Russell gave a history of “[p]ersistent pain radiating to right leg, worse with driving.” (R. p. 73). The radiologist’s impression was “[m]ild spondylosis most pronounced at L5-S1 where there is an annular tear centrally. The annular tear and disc protrusion contacts the transiting right S1 nerve root and if patient’s symptoms correspond with a right S1 radiculopathy, this could be an etiology.” (R. p. 73). In a November 21, 2011 letter, Dr. Merritt stated:

I have reviewed Mrs. Russell’s chart and I do feel that since she is getting increasing pain that ***the condition has worsened*** and I do think that we need to continue to treat her with my recommendation at this time will be epidural injections due to this worsening pain. I do think this is medically necessary and could provide her with some relief.

(R. p. 61) (emphasis added).

A December 5, 2011 report from Dr. Merritt indicates that Russell was “continuing to have pain in her back and right leg, with buttock pain radiating down the leg into the calf.” (R. p. 62). He reviewed her 2011 MRI and concluded that she had a disc protrusion at L5-S1 with contact on the nerve root. (R. p. 62). His assessment was a “[l]ow back strain with ruptured disc L5-S1 and continued symptoms in her right leg.” (R. p. 62). He recommended she stay out of work because Wal-Mart had no light duty for her. (R. p. 62).

In the meantime, Russell filed an accommodation request with Wal-Mart in early October 2011, which, if accepted, would have allowed her to move to a store location

closer to her home. (R. pp. 171-172). Russell thought having a shorter commute might help her back and leg pain and allow her to work more hours. (R. pp. 171-172). Russell continued to work until December 1, 2011, when she was told Wal-Mart could not accommodate her request, and that she must leave the premises immediately. (R. p. 172). She was told Wal-Mart would attempt to meet her accommodations, but the company never did, and she never worked there again. (R. pp. 172-173). Russell ultimately filed her Form 50 alleging a change of condition on December 9, 2011. (R. p. 9).

She was next seen by Dr. William Edwards of Pee Dee Orthopaedic Associates for an IME. (R. p. 64). In the history, Dr. Edwards stated that Russell's 2009 pain involved central low back pain "without any radicular discomfort at that time." (R. p. 64). He further stated that "[s]ymptoms are now centered into the lower part of her back but radiate into the legs more on the right than the left side." (R. p. 64). He noted that since a 2010 MRI performed at his office there were "more significant radicular symptoms in the right buttock and leg." (R. p. 64). He concluded that:

she appears to have worsening radicular symptoms predominantly on the right side, her MRI scan is unchanged and it is unlikely that the condition has worsened from an objective standpoint. I would agree with Dr. Merritt's assessment that there is an approximately 7% impairment of her spine based on this one level disc injury. Aggressive intervention from a surgical standpoint could be offered as a last resort and would most likely involve anterior lumbar interbody fusion at L5/S1 though a limited microdiscectomy at L5/S1 on the right side may be successful in alleviating some of her radicular symptoms.

(R. p. 65).

By March of 2012, Dr. Merritt had diagnosed her right leg radiculopathy as “chronic,” and stated that if it worsened “within the year that would be something reasonable and we will need to have the Workers’ Compensation’s company get her back to Dr. Edwards to discuss it but from my standpoint there is not much else I can offer and her impairment and work restrictions are as previously dictated.” (R. p. 63). Another MRI was performed on July 24, 2012, and Dr. Edwards opined that there was no change in disc pathology despite the increase in symptoms. (R. pp. 67-69). Dr. Edwards clearly recommended surgery at this point, and that it may serve to provide a “measure of improvement” in her radicular pain. (R. p. 69).

Dr. Merritt was deposed on May 23, 2012. Dr. Merritt was asked to compare the 2011 MRI to the one taken in 2010, and he stated that “I didn’t have the films to compare. They were done on two different magnets and two different machines. I don’t think there was a major change. Certainly, not a very significant one. Maybe a slightly increased sized protrusion on the second one. Nothing I felt was extremely remarkable.” (R. p.18, lines 18-24). However, the first MRI report did not “mention any contact of the transiting nerve roots. So my feeling is that it was probably not quite as big as it is. If it’s now pushing out enough to touch the transiting nerve roots at that level, it’s probably a little bigger than it was before . . . .” (R. p. 19, lines 4-12). “I think if there was contact of the transiting nerve roots I would have probably mentioned that in my dictation. So I’m assuming that that was not there and that this disk protrusion is slightly larger than it was previously.” (R. p. 25, lines 19-24). He further felt that this “little bit” of disc protrusion constituted an anatomical difference in Russell’s condition.

(R. p. 19, lines 10-12). "If you're talking a couple millimeters, larger protrusion on the second one versus the first, that may be a little hard to discern. A small difference, you know." (R. p. 26, lines 9-12).

Dr. Merritt did ultimately defer to Dr. Edwards, *but only in regard to evaluating whether the 2011 MRI was different from the 2010 MRI*, stating that "I would agree that he has more training in - - he probably has more experience in evaluating spine MRIs than me. And it's - - his opinion would probably be more expert - - I guess he is more of an expert on spine MRIs than I am." (R. p. 28, lines 13-17). Dr. Merritt did not defer to Dr. Edwards on any other issues.

Dr. Merritt gave a very clear opinion that a change in Russell's condition had occurred. When he saw Russell in September of 2011, she had "new complaints of pain more down in the legs . . . . In my first visit it was really mostly back pain. She said in September that she was having increasing pain down her legs and into the buttock area." (R. p. 17, lines 9-10, 12-15). "The leg stuff was relatively new. It was never the main problem." (R. p. 32, lines 19-20). He felt this was a new anatomical distribution, and that "she had not originally complained of pain down her legs at my visits. Although, she had some originally, I think, before I first saw her." (R. p. 17, lines 18-21).

When asked directly about a change in Russell's condition, he testified that "I would say there was a change. I mean, she was pretty clear during the first few visits that it was mainly just her back. . . . Certainly there appears to be a change of more radicular-type discomfort, nerve-related discomfort." (R. p. 21, lines 8-10, 13-15). He

stated he was basing his opinion as to a change of condition “in part on her subjective complaints as far as the development of leg pain.” (R. p. 33, lines 5-6).

He recommended additional medical care, with surgery a possibility, and indicated that any previous radicular pain she had experienced in her legs had been resolved at the time she reached MMI. (R. pp. 19, 21, 23-24). Dr. Merritt did recommend conservative treatment as a pain control measure, and opined that epidural steroid injections could be revisited; this recommendation “is not really on the knew [sic] MRI as much as she’s now having right leg radicular pain.” (R. pp. 29-30).

Dr. Edwards was deposed on September 13, 2012. (R. p. 35). When comparing the 2010 and 2012 MRIs, in his 2010 report he

didn’t state one way or the other whether there was or there was not an annular tear on either of the scans. It’s really - - I’m wanting to say that it’s irrelevant, but there was pathology that at the disc at L5-S1 on both studies. It looked substantially the same [as the 2012 MRI] to me.

(R. p. 40, lines 2-7). When asked if there was a difference between the MRIs, he stated

the answer to that’s no, unfortunately, for - - for what you’re asking me. . . . [I]t’s clear that the patient’s symptoms are now worse. I don’t have any - - I don’t have any doubt about that . . . clinically. But, radiographically, there’s not a significant difference to be noted in those three scans.

(R. p. 41, lines 2-10). He stated that all three MRIs are fairly consistent, and they all appear to show a “nerve root compression.” (R. p. 43, lines 22-24).

He stated that Russell’s symptoms had progressively worsened and her pain complaints had increased since her initial claim was resolved in 2011. (R. pp. 38-39). When asked about the cause of Russell’s symptoms, Dr. Edwards stated that “as early as September of 2010” he believed there was a disc pathology that was compressing the

nerve root, and that “compression, over an extended period of time, is most likely what’s causing her worsening.” (R. pp. 42-43). Dr. Edwards even stated that Russell’s “fairly significant radiculopathy” could be caused “without having pressure on . . . that nerve.” (R. p. 45, lines 22-25). Instead, prolonged chemical irritation to the nerve could be the cause of the increase in symptoms. (R. p. 44, lines 15-25).

Dr. Edwards agreed with Dr. Merritt’s conclusion that the condition had become “chronic” because it had lasted so long. (R. p. 46, lines 1-5). Dr. Edwards stated that “her symptoms are more significant now than they were when I first saw her. So you could . . . make . . . [the] conclusion” that “the nerve has worsened.” (R. p. 46, lines 11-16). Dr. Edwards did not doubt that the condition has worsened, and stated “the disc is bulged out more and putting more pressure on the nerves . . .” and that the anatomic worsening of her symptoms means “that there is now a chronic change in that nerve that makes it more painful or symptomatic.” (R. p. 47, lines 5-14). Dr. Edwards said that in Russell’s “opinion it seems to be worsening, and I have no reason to doubt that, then it is reasonable to offer surgical intervention.” (R. p. 47, lines 21-24).

In perhaps the most important exchange in the depositions, on cross-examination, counsel for the Respondents asked Dr. Edwards a particularly leading question:

And in this particular case the main issue is whether Ms. Russell has had a change of condition for the worse, and in South Carolina the case law and statute requires that there’s - - requires that there is a physical change in her condition for the worse. And your opinion based upon the - - the M.R.I.’s, your evaluation of her, anything you’ve done on this particular claim, can you state to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that there’s been any physical worsening of her condition in this claim?

(R. pp. 51-52).

Dr. Edwards answered:

You know, that's interesting that I have to respond to some statute there. But - - so it would imply to me that what you're saying is there's some - - something we can look at and prove that has no subjective component to it that would indicate that the condition is worse and the answer to that is, no. But if you - - if you rely on the physical examination and the demonstration of these paresthesias that we're describing into this nerve distribution, **that's part of an objective physical finding**, though it does have a subjective component to it.

(R. p. 52, lines 2-13) (emphasis added).

Dr. Edwards did opine that Russell was not considered a candidate for surgery in 2010 "because she was pregnant at the time. We certainly try not to operate on pregnant people if we can get by without it." (R. pp. 54-55). Dr. Edwards' recommended treatment going forward is surgery, and he stated he "would not have offered it if I didn't think that there was a really good chance of her getting some improvement in her - - again, predominately, the buttock and leg symptoms that she has." (R. p. 55, lines 7-11).

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