THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
Workers' Compensation Commission

Appellate Case No.: 2014-000454

RECEIVED
OCT 24 2014
SC COURT OF APPEALS

Paula Russell,..... Appellant,

v.

Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., and American Home Assurance,..... Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Johnnie W. Baxley, III
Willson, Jones, Carter, & Baxley, PA
421 Wando Park Boulevard, Suite 100
Mount Pleasant, SC 29464
(843) 284-1082
Attorney for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE APPELLATE PANEL APPLIED THE APPROPRIATE LEGAL STANDARD AND CORRECTLY DETERMINED APPELLANT FAILED TO PROVE BY A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD THAT SHE SUSTAINED A WORSENING OF HER PHYSICAL CONDITION AS A RESULT OF THE ORIGINAL INJURY AND OCCURRING AFTER THE FIRST AWARD.

The record and the Decision and Order show that the Appellate Panel considered the record as a whole and reached a reasonable conclusion based on all of the evidence submitted by both parties. Contrary to the arguments of Appellant, they did not apply the wrong legal standard or fail to consider any evidence in this matter.

S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-90 provides, “the Commission may review an award and on that review make an award . . . on proof *by a preponderance of the evidence* that there has been a change of condition caused by the original injury, after the last payment of compensation.” (emphasis added). In Gattis v. Murrells Inlet VFW #10420, 576 S.E.2d 191 (S.C. Ct. App. 2003) (citing Causby v. Rock Hill Printing & Finishing Co., 153 S.E.2d 697, 698 (S.C. 1967)), the court held a change in condition occurs when a claimant experiences a change in “*physical condition*” as a result of the original injury and occurring after the first award. (emphasis added). To justify a modification of an award based on a change of condition, therefore, the claimant bears the burden of proving the actual change in condition and its causal connection to the

original compensable accident. *Id.* (citing Krell v. S.C. State Hwy. Dept., 118 S.E.2d 322, 323 (S.C. 1961)). The determination of whether a claimant experiences a change of condition is a question for the fact finder and must be affirmed if substantial evidence supports the Full Commission's finding. Clark v. Aiken County Government, 620 S.E.2d 99 (S.C. Ct. App. 2005) (citing Gattis, 576 S.E.2d at 194; Solomon v. W.B. Easton, Inc., 415 S.E.2d 841, 843 (S.C. Ct. App. 1992)). Further, an appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. Bentley v. Spartanburg County, 730 S.E.2d 296 (S.C. 2012) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)).

- a. The Commission correctly reviewed the record as a whole and in its discretion determined Claimant did not meet her burden of proving a change of condition by a preponderance of the evidence.**

As indicated by the extensive case law cited above, the Claimant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that there has been a change in the physical condition caused by the original injury after the last payment of compensation. It is the duty and obligation of the Commission, in its role as fact finder, to consider all of the evidence presented and, in reviewing the record as a whole, to use its discretion as to the weight given to the evidence submitted in forming findings and conclusions based on that evidence. This is precisely what the Appellate Panel did in this matter.

The Commission correctly applied this preponderance of the evidence standard and properly weighed the various evidence presented, as supported by various Findings of Fact in the January 30, 2014 Appellate Panel Order. Specifically, Findings of Fact 7 on page 9 states, “[w]e give limited weight to the testimony of the Claimant as it is conclusory and self-serving . . . when considering all of the evidence as a whole, we find Claimant’s lay testimony about her past and ongoing complaints does not carry the burden of [f] proving a worsening of condition after the

original award.” Further, Findings of Fact 8 on page 9 says, “[w]e give more weight to the medical records, the diagnostic tests, and the testimony of the medical experts in this case . . . we give the greatest weight to Dr. Edwards’ testimony and opinion because he is a spine surgeon and because Dr. Merritt himself identified Dr. Edwards as more of an expert of these issues and deferred to his judgment.” Most importantly, the Commission specifically held in Findings of Fact 10, “[w]e are cognizant of the fact that testimony from both doctors and statements out of medical reports can be cherry-picked to support either position on this change of condition dispute . . . [h]owever, when reviewing the evidence as a whole and giving weight to the various pieces of evidence, it is our view that the preponderance of the evidence does not establish that Claimant has sustained a change of condition for the worse.” (R. p. 231).

While the Commission did note the lack of differences between the 2010 and the 2011/2012 MRIs in the January 30, 2014, Order, the Commission also cited to deposition testimony of the medical providers and testimony of the Claimant. Specifically, the Order references testimony from Dr. Edwards stating Appellant could have been a candidate for discectomy back in 2010 for her November 2009 accident, but it was probably not considered because Claimant was pregnant. (R. p. 227). The Order further cites to testimony from Dr. Edwards that Claimant had not developed any weakness in her muscles and that her reflexes have remained the same. (R. p. 230). The Commission also referenced testimony from Dr. Merritt that Appellant had some complaints of pain going into her right leg before she saw him at her first visit as well as testimony from Claimant that she believed the pain in her right leg was new and different than before. (R. p. 228).

The Appellate Panel fulfilled its obligation to consider and weigh all of the presented evidence in order to reach a determination as to whether the Claimant’s legal burden had been

met. The clear language of the Order indicates that all evidence was considered and which evidence was given more or less weight and the reasons therefore.

b. Appellant's argument that the Commission applied the wrong standard when evaluating Appellant's change of condition claim is unsubstantiated by the record.

Appellant now contends the Commission erred by using the wrong standard when evaluating Appellant's change of condition by requiring objective evidence of the change of condition. This argument is simply invalid. At no point in the Appellate Panel's Order does the Appellate Panel include a finding which would imply or indicate that only objective evidence was being considered in reaching a conclusion. Rather, the Commission clearly lays out that they considered all of the evidence as a whole. The Commission considered the medical reports, the diagnostic tests, the testimony of Dr. Merritt, the testimony of Dr. Edwards, and the testimony of the Claimant. The Commission did not prohibit, ignore, or disallow evidence that was not objective evidence. In fact, the plain language of the Commission's Order makes it extremely clear that the Commission considered and weighed all of the evidence.

Appellant has asserted that this change of condition claim was denied for the single reason that there was no definitive difference between the MRI scans before and after the original award. This argument is disingenuous. The Appellate Panel notes in Findings of Fact #6 that they reviewed all of the submitted evidence, including the medical records, the Claimant's testimony, the testimony of the various doctors, and the prior Orders. (R. p. 231). The Appellate Panel then details, in Findings of Fact #7-14 all categories of the evidence presented, the weight given to the evidence, and their reasons therefore. (R. pp. 231-232). At no point in the Order does the Appellate Panel indicate or imply that the change of condition claim was being denied for a single reason, and this assertion by Appellant is without merit.

Appellant has argued that Claimant's testimony and complaints were ignored, but that is simply not the case. The Appellate Panel considered and weighed that evidence, and they found that the Claimant's lay testimony about her past and ongoing complaints did not carry the burden of proving a worsening of condition and that greater weight is given to the medical records, the diagnostic tests, and the testimony of the medical experts. The Commission did not prohibit or disallow lay testimony by the Claimant; instead, the Commission reviewed and considered Claimant's testimony but gave her statements less weight than the expert testimony of the medical providers.

The Appellant also repeatedly asserts that Respondents have argued the wrong legal standard. This argument is without merit for two reasons. First, it is irrelevant to a judicial review as to which legal standard was argued by Respondents; the only relevant standard is the one applied by the Appellate Panel and in this case, the evidence is abundantly clear that the correct legal and evidentiary standards were applied. Second, the Appellant has mischaracterized the Respondents' argument. In the case at hand, Respondents timely submitted a brief to the Appellate Panel discussing the applicable case law on change of condition claims in South Carolina in support of their argument that Appellant has not presented any objective testimony other than self-serving subjective complaints to demonstrate her condition is any "different" from her condition at the time the original Decision and Order was filed in June 2011. Likewise, at oral argument, Respondents argued to the Appellate Panel that while the Claimant's testimony is indeed one factor to be considered, the most important factor is the doctor's testimony about the actual physical condition of the back. (R. p. 217, line 19 – p. 218, line 1). Respondents conceded at oral argument that all testimony must be considered but they have also repeatedly argued that there must be a "physical change of condition for the worse" which is

consistent with long-standing case law. (R. p. 216).

The Appellant repeatedly asserts in her Brief that Respondent argued that objective evidence should be relied upon as opposed to subjective testimony. The Appellant cites this as proof of application of the wrong legal standard. It is not. It is simply argument by the Respondents over the weight given to testimony. The Respondents have argued from the beginning of the claim, and still argue at this time, that objective evidence should be given more weight than subjective evidence. It has never been argued that subjective evidence cannot be considered, nor has it been argued that there must be objective proof of a change of condition. The Respondents have simply argued that based upon the particular circumstances present in this case, the objective evidence and the testimony of the doctors based upon that objective evidence should be given more weight than the subjective complaints of claimant. The Appellate Panel decided that the medical records, diagnostic testing, and medical opinions should be afforded more weight on this particular claim, which is well within their discretion to determine.

II. SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE COMMISSION'S FINDING THAT APPELLANT DID NOT SUSTAIN A PHYSICAL CHANGE OF CONDITION FOR THE WORSE.

This Court should uphold the decision of the Appellate Panel because substantial evidence supports the Commission's finding that Appellant did not sustain a physical change of condition for the worse. In Gattis v. Murrells Inlet VFW #10420, 576 S.E.2d 191 (S.C. Ct. App. 2003) (citing Causby v. Rock Hill Printing & Finishing Co., 153 S.E.2d 697, 698 (S.C. 1967)), the court held a change in condition occurs when a claimant experiences a change in "physical condition" as a result of the original injury and occurring after the first award. (emphasis added). To justify a modification of an award based on a change of condition, therefore, the claimant bears the burden of proving the actual change in condition and its causal connection to the

original compensable accident. Id. (citing Krell v. S.C. State Hwy. Dept., 118 S.E.2d 322, 323 (S.C. 1061)). It is important to note that a change of condition refers to conditions different from those in existence when an award was originally made. Id. at 191 (citing Lewis v. Craven Reg'l Med. Ctr., 468 S.E.2d 269, 274 (N.C. Ct. App. 1996)). A continued or ongoing incapacity of the same character and kind and for the same injury is not a "change in condition." Id. Further, where one relies upon expert medical testimony to show a causal connection between an injury and a subsequent condition, the testimony must meet the "most probably" rule and it is not sufficient under our case law to establish the condition in question "possibly", "could have", or "might have" resulted from the injury. Gambrell v. Burleson, 165 S.E.2d 622, 623 (S.C. 1969) (citing Cross v. Concrete Materials, 114 S.E.2d 828 (S.C. 1960)). The determination of whether a claimant experiences a change of condition is a question for the fact finder and must be affirmed if substantial evidence supports the Full Commission's finding. Clark v. Aiken County Government, 620 S.E.2d 99, 366 S.C. 102 (S.C. App. 2005) (citing Gattis, 353 S.C. at 107, 576 S.E.2d at 194; Solomon v. W.B. Easton, Inc., 415 S.E.2d 841, 843 (S.C. Ct. App. 1992)).

In the case at hand, Appellant contends that she began to experience new complaints of pain in her legs after the June 8, 2011, Order issued by the single Commissioner placing her at maximum medical improvement and assigning a seven percent impairment rating to her back. On May 23, 2012, however, Claimant's treating provider Dr. Merritt testified that Claimant had some complaints of pain going into the leg before she returned to see him in September of 2011. (R. p. 23, line 21 – p. 24, line 1). Likewise, Claimant testified at the hearing that she was indeed having some aches in her right leg when she first started treatment with Dr. Merritt and conceded she had some right leg symptoms when she treated with Dr. Wentz for injections in 2010. (R. p. 176, lines 21-25; R. p. 178, lines 2-23). Nevertheless, she testified that she believed the pain in

her right leg associated with her claim for a change of condition was new and different than before, although she could not remember exactly when she “started receiving them.” (R. p. 167, lines 11-21).

While a new MRI was ordered by Claimant’s treating provider due to her new complaints of pain, Dr. Merritt testified during his deposition that he could not recall whether he actually reviewed the original films in this case and testified that he didn’t think there was a major change . . . “[n]othing I felt was extremely remarkable”. (R. p. 18, lines 13-24). He then testified on cross examination that he would defer to Dr. Edwards as being more of an expert regarding the interpretation of the MRI scans from 2010 to 2011, agreed that Dr. Edwards probably has more experience in evaluating spine MRIs and would be more of an expert on spine MRIs than he was, and ultimately agreed with Dr. Edwards’ opinion there was no change in the MRI scan before and after the first hearing. (R. p. 28, lines 3-19).

As indicated above, Dr. Edwards did review and compare the MRI studies from 2010 and 2011 after which he concluded: (1) there was pathology at the L5-S1 disc on both studies; (2) the MRIs looked substantially the same to him; and, (3) there was no objective or significant radiographical difference to be noted in the scans. (R. p. 39, lines 16-17; p. 40, lines 5-7; p. 41, lines 8-10; p. 50, lines 22-25; p. 51, lines 1-3). Dr. Edwards also opined Claimant’s disc protrusion at L5-S1 has been contacting the nerve root and causing irritation throughout the course of her claim; she has not developed any weakness in her muscles innervated by that particular nerve; and, her reflexes have remained the same. (R. p. 50, lines 17-21; p. 51, lines 9-12).

The substantial evidence in the record, including the medical records, the diagnostic testing, and the medical testimony, support the finding of the Appellate Panel that Appellant did

not sustain a physical change of condition after the original award. The expert testimony of both Dr. Merritt and Dr. Edwards, the medical records, and the diagnostic tests constitute substantial evidence to support the finding that Appellant did not sustain a change of condition for the worse.

Appellant has argued the wrong standard on this issue. On page 27 of her Brief, the Appellant states that the substantial evidence supports a finding of a change of condition. That is not the inquiry of this Court. The legal inquiry and review of this Court is limited to whether there is substantial evidence to support the findings of the Appellate Panel, not whether there is substantial evidence to support opposite findings. In this appeal, the only inquiry is whether there is substantial evidence to support the findings of the Appellate Panel, and there is substantial evidence in this matter.

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